#### IN THE INTERMEDIATE COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

#### Docket No. 22-ICA-168

ICA EFiled: Jan 09 2023 11:36PM EST Transaction ID 68838547

# **DONALD C. NICHOLS, Plaintiff Below, Petitioner,**

vs.

# MARONEY WILLIAMS WEAVER & PANCAKE PLLC and PATRICK K. MARONEY, Defendants Below, Respondents.

# **BRIEF OF PETITIONER DONALD C. NICHOLS**

Appeal from a Final Order of the Circuit Court of Kanawha County, West Virginia in Civil Action No. 20-C-518 (The Honorable Joanna I. Tabit, Judge)

Counsel for Petitioner Donald C. Nichols:

I.	ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR			
	A.	First Assignment of Error1		
	B.	Second Assignment of Error1		
	C.	Third Assignment of Error1-2		
	D.	Fourth Assignment of Error		
II.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE			
	A.	Procedural History2-5		
	B.	Statement of the Facts		
III.	SUMN	SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT8-10		
IV.	STAT	ATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION10		
V.	ARGUMENT			
	A.	Standard of Review10		
		1. Appeal10		
		2. Rule 12(b)(6) Dismissal10-11		
		3. Rule 56(c) Summary Judgment11		
	B.	The Petitioner Pleaded a Viable Negligence Claim that Should Have Survived the Respondents' Rule 12(b)(6) Motion to Dismiss12-16		
	C.	Summary Judgment Was Premature16-18		
	D.	There Are Genuine Issues of Material Fact Regarding When the Two-Year Statute of Limitations Began to Run and Whether the Statute of Limitations Should Be Tolled Relative to the Negligence Claim		
	E.	The Petitioner Brought a Viable Breach-of-Contract Claim that Raises Genuine Issues of Material Fact to Be Decided by a Jury21		
		1. The Petitioner pleaded a viable breach-of-contract claim21-24		

	2.	There is sufficient evidence of a breach of contract, express or implied, by the Respondents in this case25-27
	3.	A five-year statute of limitations applies to the breach of an implied contract, and a ten-year statute of limitations applies to the breach of an express contract
VI.	CONCLUSIC	DN28

# **TABLE OF AUTHORITIES**

# <u>CASES</u>

Aetna Cas. & Sur. Co. v. Fed. Ins. Co., 148 W. Va. 160, 133 S.E.2d 770 (1963)11
Board of Educ. of the County of Ohio v. Van Buren and Firestone, Architects, Inc., 165 W. Va. 140, 144, 267 S.E.2d 440, 443 (1980)17
Cantley v. Lincoln County Comm'n, 221 W. Va. 468, 470, 655 S.E.2d 490, 492 (2007)10-12
<i>Casto v. Dupuy</i> , 204 W. Va. 619, 622, 515 S.E.2d 364, 367 (1999)27
CONSOL Energy, Inc. v. Hummel, 238 W. Va. 114, 792 S.E.2d 613 (2016)25
Dailey v. Ayers Land Dev., LLC, 241 W. Va. 404, 410, 825 S.E.2d 351, 357 (2019)
Dunn v. Rockwell, 225 W. Va. 43, 689 S.E.2d 255 (2009)13, 18
Evans v. United Bank, Inc., 235 W. Va. 619, 775 S.E.2d 500 (2015)1, 9, 12-13, 15, 18, 21
Gaither v. City Hosp., Inc., 199 W. Va. 706, 487 S.E.2d 901 (1997)13
Hall v. Nichols, 184 W. Va. 466, 400 S.E.2d 901 (1990)22, 24
Hanshaw v. City of Huntington, 193 W. Va. 364, 456 S.E.2d 445 (1995)27
John W. Lodge Distrib. Co. v. Texaco, 161 W. Va. 603, 605, 245 S.E.2d 157, 158 (1978)11-12
<i>Miller v. Dell Fin. Servs., L.L.C.</i> , Civil Action No. 5:08-cv-01184, 2009 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 40470 (S.D.W. Va. May 13, 2009)
<i>Mountaineer Fire &amp; Rescue Equip., LLC v. City Nat'l Bank of W. Va.,</i> 244 W. Va. 508, 521, 854 S.E.2d 870, 883 (2020)24
Painter v. Peavy, 192 W. Va. 189, 451 S.E.2d 755 (1994)10
<i>Palmer v. W. Va. Div. of Corr. &amp; Rehab.</i> , Civil Action No. 2:22-cv-00347, 2022 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 226817, at *6 (S.D.W. Va. Dec. 16, 2022)
<i>Powderidge Unit Owners Ass'n v. Highland Props., Ltd.,</i> 196 W. Va. 692, 701, 474 S.E.2d 872, 881 (1996)
Sansom v. Sansom, 148 W. Va. 603, 137 S.E.2d 1 (1964)27

<i>Smith v. Stacy</i> , 198 W. Va. 498, 482 S.E.2d 115 (1996)9, 21-22
State ex rel. McGraw v. Scott Runyan Pontiac-Buick, Inc., 194 W. Va. 770, 461 S.E.2d 516 (1995)
White v. Investors Mgmt. Corp., 888 F.2d 1036, 1041 (4th Cir. 1989)17
Williams v. Precision Coil, Inc., 194 W. Va. 52, 59, 459 S.E.2d 329, 336 (1995)11, 16-17, 21
STATUTES AND REGULATIONS
W. Va. Code §§ 39B-1-101, <i>et seq</i> 9, 25
W. Va. Code § 39B-1-10326
W. Va. Code § 39B-1-1149, 24, 26
W. Va. Code § 55-2-6
RULES
W. Va. R. App. P. 18(a)10
W. Va. R. App. P. 19
W. Va. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6)
W. Va. R. Civ. P. 15(b)
W. Va. R. Civ. P. 56(c)
W. Va. R. Prof. Conduct 1.4(b)20

#### **BRIEF OF PETITIONER DONALD C. NICHOLS**

Petitioner Donald C. Nichols ("Petitioner"), by counsel, hereby submits his brief in furtherance of his appeal of the Circuit Court of Kanawha County's final order granting a partial motion to dismiss and a motion for summary judgment in favor of Respondents Maroney Williams Weaver & Pancake PLLC ("Law Firm") and Patrick K. Maroney ("Mr. Maroney") (collectively referred to as "Respondents") in the underlying civil action.

#### I. <u>ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR</u>

The Petitioner raises four assignments of error:

#### A. <u>First Assignment of Error</u>

The Circuit Court committed reversible error by dismissing the Petitioner's negligence claim based upon the statute of limitations. Taking the allegations in the Complaint as true for purposes of analyzing the Respondents' partial motion to dismiss, the Petitioner raised factual allegations that warrant his negligence claim proceeding beyond the motion-to-dismiss stage.

#### B. <u>Second Assignment of Error</u>

The Circuit Court committed reversible error by prematurely granting summary judgment in favor of the Respondents. Several months remained prior to the discovery deadline contained in a Scheduling Order that was agreed to by the parties' counsel and that was entered less than three months before the Circuit Court's decision on the Respondents' summary-judgment motion.

#### C. Third Assignment of Error

The Circuit Court committed reversible error by granting summary judgment on the Petitioner's negligence claim based upon the statute of limitations. Pursuant to *Evans v. United Bank, Inc.*, 235 W. Va. 619, 775 S.E.2d 500 (2015), there are genuine issues of material fact that

should be resolved by a jury regarding when the two-year statute of limitations began to run and whether it should be tolled relative to the Petitioner's negligence claim.

#### D. Fourth Assignment of Error

The Circuit Court committed reversible error by granting summary judgment on the Petitioner's breach-of-contract claim. In essence, the Circuit Court improperly concluded that the Petitioner's breach-of-contract claim was actually a time-barred negligence claim.

#### II. <u>STATEMENT OF THE CASE</u>

#### A. <u>Procedural History</u>

The Petitioner's Complaint was filed in the Circuit Court of Kanawha County on June 25, 2020, and the case was assigned Civil Action No. 20-C-518.<sup>1</sup> (AR 002.) The Complaint, which is based on allegations of legal malpractice, contains two claims against the Respondents: (1) breach of express and/or implied contract, and (2) negligence. (AR 002-010.) The Petitioner's combined discovery requests were served on the Law Firm with the Complaint. (AR 011-018.)

A Summons, the Complaint, and the initial combined discovery requests to the Law Firm were served upon Mr. Maroney via certified mail on June 30, 2020. (AR 019.) The same were served upon the Law Firm through the West Virginia Secretary of State on July 1, 2020. (AR 073-074.) "Defendants' Partial Motion to Dismiss, Answer, and Affirmative Defenses to Plaintiff's Complaint" was served on July 31, 2020. (AR 020-049.) The Respondents' partial motion to dismiss solely challenged the Petitioner's negligence claim. (AR 02-024.) "Plaintiff's Response to Defendants' Partial Motion to Dismiss" was served on August 25, 2020. (AR 050-076.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Although not technically part of the record, it bears noting that the Complaint was filed during the relatively early stages of the COVID-19 pandemic.

On September 11, 2020, the Law Firm served its initial responses to the Petitioner's interrogatories and requests for production that were served with the Complaint. (*See* AR 077-089 for the Law Firm's written discovery responses, excluding production.) A Notice of Mediation was served on June 17, 2021, setting mediation for August 17, 2021 (AR 090-091) – though the parties subsequently agreed not to move forward with the mediation at that time.

On July 21, 2021, the Circuit Court entered an Agreed Protective Order, the contents of which were approved by the parties' respective counsel. (AR 092-096.) And on July 26, 2021, the Law Firm served its supplemental responses to the Petitioner's combined discovery requests. (*See* AR 097-108 for the Law Firm's supplemental discovery responses, excluding production.)

On April 19, 2022, the Respondents served a motion for summary judgment and supporting brief, attacking both of the Petitioner's claims. (AR 109-157.) On June 6, 2022, the Respondents served a notice of hearing, scheduling their August 2020 partial motion to dismiss and their April 2022 motion for summary judgment to be heard on August 23, 2022. (AR 158-159.)

The Circuit Court entered a Scheduling Order in the underlying case on June 16, 2022. (AR 160-162.) Without objection, the Respondents' counsel agreed to all dates and deadlines in the Scheduling Order, including the following: a deadline of July 29, 2022, for the parties to identify fact witnesses; a deadline of December 16, 2022, for the Petitioner's disclosure of expert witnesses; a deadline of January 16, 2023, for the Respondents' disclosure of expert witnesses; a discovery deadline of March 31, 2023; a deadline of May 1, 2023, for filing dispositive motions; a date and time of May 30, 2023, at 2:00 p.m. for a hearing on dispositive motions; a date of June 29, 2023, for the pre-trial conference; and a date of July 10, 2023, for the start of trial. (AR 160-162.) The parties immediately began following the Scheduling Order, with a "Notice of Selection

of Mediator" served on July 12, 2022 (AR 163-164), and with the parties' respective disclosures of fact witnesses served on July 28, 2022 (AR 165-171).

The Petitioner served his response in opposition to the Respondents' motion for summary judgment on August 18, 2022. (AR 172-206.) Among other things, the Petitioner's response contained an affidavit from his counsel. (AR 191.) The affidavit confirmed such counsel's intention to conduct additional discovery that will support the Petitioner's case, including depositions and the disclosure of experts to be utilized in furtherance of the case. (AR 191.)

A hearing on the Respondents' partial motion to dismiss and motion for summary judgment was held on August 23, 2022. (AR 158-159, 274.) Toward the conclusion of the hearing, Judge Tabit noted that she "appreciate[d] the briefing and the argument[,]" that the parties were "clearly on point[,]" and that it was "a pleasure." (AR 303.) Judge Tabit then directed the parties to submit proposed findings of fact and conclusions of law within 15 days. (AR 303.) The parties submitted their proposed orders on September 7, 2022. (*See* AR 207-231 for the Petitioner's notice and proposed order; AR 232-245 for the Respondents' proposed order.)

On September 9, 2022, the Respondents' counsel emailed Judge Tabit and her law clerk to advise that, because the Respondents have already submitted their proposed order, they "do not plan on lodging any objections to Plaintiff's competing proposed Order." (AR 272.) In the same email, the Respondents' counsel noted his belief "that the issues before the Court are sufficiently (perhaps even exhaustingly) addressed in the competing Orders." (AR 272.)

On September 9, 2022, the Circuit Court entered its "Order Granting Defendants' Partial Motion to Dismiss and Motion for Summary Judgment," concluding that the Petitioner's negligence claim is time-barred by the applicable statute of limitations and that the Petitioner's breach-of-contract claim is actually a negligence claim that, again, is time-barred. (AR 246-259.)

Having not yet received the final order entered in the underlying case,<sup>2</sup> on September 14, 2022, the Petitioner timely filed his objections and exceptions to the Respondents' proposed order. (AR 1, 261-270.) The Petitioner timely filed his notice of appeal on October 11, 2022. (AR 306-342.) In accordance with this Court's Scheduling Order, the Petitioner now perfects his appeal.

#### B. <u>Statement of the Facts</u>

The Petitioner developed a form of cancer known as multiple myeloma, which he alleges resulted from exposure to benzene while working for FMC Corporation ("FMC") over the course of approximately 39 years. (Compl. at ¶¶ 13-14 (AR 003); Ans. at ¶¶ 13-14 (AR 025).) In 2014, he applied for occupational disease benefits related to his alleged exposure to benzene while working for FMC. (AR 246.) On March 12, 2014, a Third-Party Administrator for FMC denied the Petitioner's application for occupational disease benefits. (AR 246.) The Petitioner protested the decision, and the matter proceeded to an Administrative Law Judge ("ALJ"). (AR 247.) The Respondents represented the Petitioner at the ALJ level regarding the Petitioner's cancer diagnosis and work-related benzene exposure. (Compl. at ¶¶ 12-13, 18 (AR 003-004); Ans. ¶¶ 12-13, 18 (AR 025-026).) In furtherance of such representation, on March 28, 2014, the Respondents and the Petitioner at the ALJ here the advector of Attorney." (AR 201.) As the title suggests, the representation agreement incorporates a power of attorney. (AR 201.)

On June 15, 2017, the ALJ affirmed a Claim Administrator's denial of the Petitioner's workers' compensation claim. (*See* AR 039-048 for the ALJ's decision.) In doing so, the ALJ observed, among other things, that "[t]he claimant's application for Occupational Disease benefits

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Although entered on September 9, 2022, the Circuit Court's final order was not mailed to the Petitioner's counsel until September 13, 2022. (*See* AR 260 for a copy of the envelope in which the order was mailed to the Petitioner's counsel.)

has not been placed of record for the protest herein. Therefore the physician's statement cannot be reviewed indicating that the claimant has multiple myeloma or whether the physician found and indicated on the application that the claimant has multiple myeloma as a result of his occupation." (AR 44.) The ALJ ultimately concluded that the "[t]he only persuasive medical evidence of record" was from the report prepared by FMC's expert. (AR 045.) As reflected at the conclusion of the ALJ's report, the Respondents did not submit any actual medical evidence, nor did they offer any challenge to the report submitted by FMC's expert on April 7, 2017, or the closing argument submitted by FMC on April 19, 2017. (AR 047-048.) In fact, the Respondents did not submit any evidence whatsoever on the Petitioner's behalf after January 19, 2016 – over one year and five months before the ALJ's decision. (AR 047.)

In a June 27, 2017, letter purportedly sent to the Petitioner, Mr. Maroney noted the Respondents would not appeal the ALJ's decision, though the Petitioner could do so on his own within thirty days of the decision. (AR 142.) Mr. Maroney wrote: "Based upon the evidence in your claim, it does not appear that the Board of Review will enter a favorable decision for you. It is our opinion that any further appeal of your claim will be unsuccessful." (AR 142.) The letter does not address, among other things, the Respondents' failure to present any medical evidence, failure to oppose FMC's expert, or failure to even provide a closing argument. Although not clearly apparent on the record, it is undisputed that the Petitioner did not appeal the ALJ's decision.

As noted in the Procedural History, the Petitioner's Complaint was filed on June 25, 2020, and contains claims of breach of express and/or implied contract and negligence. (AR 002-010.) In his Complaint in this case, the Petitioner alleges, among other things, the following: 32. Represented by separate counsel at a separate law firm, the Plaintiff filed a civil action (Civil Action No. 16-C-888 in the Circuit Court of Kanawha County, WV) against FMC Corporation and other defendants (not the defendants in this case) relative to his benzene exposure.

33. On or about January 13, 2020, in the course of the above-referenced civil action (*i.e.*, Civil Action No. 16-C-888 in the Circuit Court of Kanawha County, WV), FMC Corporation took the position that the Plaintiff's deliberate-intent claim against it is barred by the doctrine of res judicata, given that the Plaintiff's application for workers' compensation benefits was denied.

34. The Defendants' failure to adequately and properly represent the Plaintiff in the workers' compensation matter has also adversely impacted the Plaintiff's above-referenced civil action (*i.e.*, Civil Action No. 16-C-888 in the Circuit Court of Kanawha County, WV).

(Compl. at ¶¶ 32-34 (AR 006).) In the present case, the Petitioner seeks, in part, the following:

Damages that would have otherwise been available to Plaintiff pursuant to W. Va. Code § 23-4-2 (*i.e.*, damages over and above the workers' compensation award the Plaintiff should have received) but for the material weakening and/or compromised viability of his subsequent civil action (*i.e.*, Civil Action No. 16-C-888 in the Circuit Court of Kanawha County, WV) based upon FMC Corporation having taken the position that the Plaintiff's deliberateintent claim against it is barred by the doctrine of res judicata, given that the Plaintiff's application for workers' compensation benefits was denied

(Compl. at ¶¶ 42.b., 50.b. (AR 7, 9).) The Petitioner's "damages [in this case] are linked, to a

degree, to the separate deliberate-intent case[.]" (AR 262.) As of September 14, 2022 (i.e., the

time of filing objections and exceptions to the Respondents' proposed order), it was the Petitioner's

counsel's understanding that the separate deliberate-intent case was ongoing. (AR 262.)

#### III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Circuit Court committed reversible error by granting the Respondents' motion to dismiss the Petitioner's negligence claim. The Circuit Court incorrectly ruled that the Petitioner's negligence claim is time-barred. The Petitioner sufficiently pleaded his negligence claim in a manner that, treating the allegations in the Complaint as true for purposes of analyzing the Respondents' Rule 12(b)(6) motion, should have resulted in a denial of such motion.

The Circuit Court also committed reversible error by granting the Respondents' motion for summary judgment regarding the Petitioner's negligence and breach-of-contract claims. The Circuit Court prematurely ruled on the motion for summary judgment several months prior to the completion of the discovery deadline set forth in an agreed-upon Scheduling Order.

On June 16, 2022, the Circuit Court entered its Scheduling Order in the underlying case. The content of the Scheduling Order was agreed to by the parties' respective counsel. At the time of entry of the Circuit Court's final order, over six months remained before the discovery deadline in the Scheduling Order. The Circuit Court, however, denied the Petitioner's request to continue conducting discovery within the timeframe agreed to by the parties and permitted under the Scheduling Order. The Circuit Court recognized that, "[a]s a general rule, summary judgment is appropriate only after adequate time for discovery." (AR 250.) However, the Circuit Court did not allow the Petitioner to complete discovery under the Scheduling Order before ruling on summary judgment. It is well-recognized in federal district courts sitting in West Virginia that the measure of what a court considers adequate time for discovery is embodied in the court's scheduling orders. *See Palmer v. W. Va. Div. of Corr. & Rehab.*, Civil Action No. 2:22-cv-00347, 2022 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 226817, at \*6 (S.D.W. Va. Dec. 16, 2022) (emphasis added) (quoting *Miller v. Dell Fin. Servs., L.L.C.*, Civil Action No. 5:08-cv-01184, 2009 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 40470

(S.D.W. Va. May 13, 2009). Because the Petitioner was not given adequate time to finish discovery within the timeframe established in the Scheduling Order, the Circuit Court's ruling on the Respondents' motion for summary judgment was premature and constitutes reversible error.

Additionally, in ruling on the Respondents' motion for summary judgment, the Circuit Court incorrectly decided issues that should have been reserved for a jury regarding application of the statute of limitations to the Petitioner's negligence claim. Moreover, the Circuit Court incorrectly ruled that the Petitioner's breach-of-contract claim was a time-barred negligence claim.

Regarding his negligence claim, the Petitioner raised issues that, pursuant to *Evans*, should be decided by a jury, including when the two-year statute of limitations on his negligence claim began to run and whether it should be tolled due to fraudulent concealment by the Respondents.

Further, pursuant to *Smith v. Stacy*, 198 W. Va. 498, 482 S.E.2d 115 (1996), even assuming *arguendo* that the Petitioner's negligence claim is time-barred, a complaint that could be construed as being either in tort or on contract should be presumed to be on contract whenever the action would be barred by the statute of limitation if construed as being in tort. The Petitioner pleaded a viable claim of breach of contract and presented sufficient evidence in the form of a representation agreement, as well as legal support for the Petitioner's argument regarding the scope and effect of such agreement. By incorporating a power of attorney into the applicable representation agreement, the Respondents undertook contractual duties (expressly or impliedly) to the Petitioner, including, but not limited to, a duty to "[a]et with the care, competence and diligence ordinarily exercised by agents in similar circumstances" (*see* W. Va. Code § 39B-1-114(b)(3)), under the West Virginia Uniform Power of Attorney Act ("UPAA"), W. Va. Code §§ 39B-1-101, *et seq.* Regardless of whether the contractual obligation is express (ten-year statute of limitations) or

implied (five-year statute of limitations), the Petitioner's breach-of-contract claim against the Respondents was indisputably brought within the applicable statute of limitations.

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