#### IN THE INTERMEDIATE COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

Docket No. 22-ICA-168

ICA EFiled: Feb 23 2023 01:43PM EST Transaction ID 69206804

DONALD C. NICHOLS,

Plaintiff Below, Petitioner,

v.

## MARONEY WILLIAMS WEAVER & PANCAKE PLLC and PATRICK K. MARONEY,

**Defendants Below, Respondents.** 

#### **RESPONDENTS' BRIEF**

Kevin A. Nelson (WVSB #2715) Clayton T. Harkins (WVSB #13409) Dinsmore & Shohl LLP 707 Virginia Street, East, Suite 1300 Charleston, West Virginia 25301 Telephone: (304) 357-0900 Facsimile: (304) 357-0919 kevin.nelson@dinsmore.com

clayton.harkins@dinsmore.co

## **

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

#### III. Summary of Argument

Petitioner asserts four assignments of error. First, Petitioner argues the Circuit Court committed reversible error by dismissing Petitioner's negligence claim based on the statute of limitations. Respondents submit, however, that the Circuit Court appropriately dismissed Petitioner's negligence claim because Petitioner failed to bring his claim within the applicable limitation of actions. Petitioner's contentions that the statute of limitations should be tolled by the discovery rule or the doctrine of fraudulent concealment lack merit as the evidence before the Circuit Court showed that Petitioner knew or should have known of his potential cause of action against Respondents more than two years before he filed the instant civil action and there is no evidence that Respondents fraudulently concealed any facts that prevented Petitioner from discovering or pursing his cause of action.

Second, Petitioner contends that the Circuit Court committed reversible error by prematurely granting summary judgment in favor of Respondents. To the contrary, however, Respondents maintain that Petitioner had more than two years within which to conduct discovery, which was more than adequate. Moreover, Petitioner has failed to both explain or even articulate what discovery he could or would have undertaken that would have specifically addressed Respondents' statute of limitations argument, or to articulate the reasons he could not present, by affidavit, relevant questions of fact that required discovery prior to the Circuit Court's consideration of Respondents' Motion for Summary Judgement as required by Rule 56(f) of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure.

Third, Petitioner argues the Circuit Court committed reversible error by granting summary judgment on Petitioner's negligence claim based on the statute of limitations. As set forth above, Petitioner's negligence claim is time barred and there is no applicable tolling doctrine that precluded the Circuit Court from granting summary judgment.

Fourth, Petitioner asserts that the Circuit Court committed reversible error by granting summary judgment on Petitioner's breach of contract claim. Respondents, however, submit that Petitioner's breach of contract claim fails as a matter of law because it lacks allegations regarding a breach of any specific terms of the contract between Petitioner and Respondents. Instead, Petitioner asserts that Respondents breached duties imposed by law on the attorney/client relationship and not of the contract itself. Therefore, Petitioner's claims lie in tort, not in contract, and are barred by the applicable statute of limitations.

#### IV. Statement regarding Oral Argument and Decision

Respondents suggest that oral argument is unnecessary in this matter because the appeal lacks substantial merit, the dispositive issue or issues have been authoritatively decided, the facts

and legal arguments are adequately presented in the briefs and record on appeal, and the decisional process would not be significantly aided by oral argument. W. Va. R.A.P. 18(a).

### V. Argument

#### A. Standard of Review of an Order Granting Motion to Dismiss.

"Appellate review of a circuit court's order granting a motion to dismiss a complaint is de novo." Syl. pt. 2, State ex rel. McGraw v. Scott Runyan Pontiac-Buick, 194 W. Va. 770, 461 S.E.2d 516 (1995). Rule 12(b)(6) of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure requires the dismissal of an action for failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted. See Forshey v. Jackson, 222 W. Va. 743, 749, 671 S.E.2d 748, 754 (2008) (explaining that a motion to dismiss should be granted where "it is clear that no relief could be granted under any set of facts that could be proved consistent with the allegations"). The purpose of a motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6) is to "test the formal sufficiency of the complaint" and "weed out unfounded suits." Yoak v. Marshall Univ. Bd. of Governors, 223 W. Va. 55, 59, 672 S.E.2d 191, 195 (2008). A pleading must contain "a short and plain statement of the claim showing that the pleader is entitled to relief." W. Va. R. Civ. P. 8(a). Although a plaintiff's factual allegations must be accepted as true for purposes of a motion to dismiss, the court need not accept a plaintiff's "legal conclusions, unsupported conclusions, unwarranted references and sweeping legal conclusions cast in the form of factual allegations." Brown v. City of Montgomery, 233 W. Va. 119, 127, 755 S.E.2d 653, 661 (2014). Accordingly, the "complaint must set forth enough information to outline the elements of a claim." Fass v. Nowsco Well Serv., Ltd., 177 W. Va. 50, 52, 350 S.E.2d 562, 563 (1986). "[I]f a plaintiff does not plead all of the essential elements of his or her legal claim, a [trial] court is required to dismiss the complaint pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6)." Brown, 177 W. Va. at 119, 755 S.E.2d at 661.

## B. Standard of Review of an Order Granting Motion for Summary Judgment.

"A circuit court's entry of summary judgment is reviewed *de novo." Painter v. Peavy*, 192 W. Va. 189, 192, 451 S.E.2d 755, 758 (1994). Under Rule 56(c) of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure, summary judgment is proper where the moving party has shown that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that it is entitled to summary judgment as a matter of law. W. Va. R. Civ. P. 56(c); *Painter*, 192 W. Va. at 192, 451 S.E.2d at 758. "The [Court's] function at the summary judgment stage is not 'to weigh the evidence and determine the truth of the matter but to determine whether there is a genuine issue for trial." *Painter*, 192 W. Va. at 192, 451 S.E.2d at 758. Consequently, the Court "must draw any permissible inference from the underlying facts in the most favorable light to the party opposing the motion." *Id*.

"Nevertheless, the party opposing summary judgment must satisfy the burden of proof by offering more than a mere 'scintilla of evidence,' and must produce evidence sufficient for a reasonable jury to find in a nonmoving party's favor." *Id.*, 192 W. Va. at 192-93, 451 S.E.2d at 758-59. "Summary judgment is appropriate where the record taken as a whole could not lead a rational trier of fact to find for the nonmoving party, such as where the nonmoving party has failed to make a sufficient showing on an essential element of the case that it has the burden to prove." *Id.*, 192 W. Va. at 193, 451 S.E.2d at 759. "Therefore, while the underlying facts and all inferences are viewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party, the nonmoving party must nonetheless offer some concrete evidence from which a reasonable finder of fact could return a verdict in its favor or other significant probative evidence tending to support the complaint." *Id.* (cleaned up).

## C. Petitioner's Negligence Claim is Barred by the Applicable Statute of Limitations.

The Circuit Court found that, as a matter of law, Petitioner's negligence claim is barred by the applicable statute of limitations. (*See* Pet'r's Br. at 12-16, 18-21). Petitioner argues that he pled facts that raise a jury issue as to when the statute of limitations began to run and whether it should have been tolled, and that therefore the Circuit Court erred in granting the Respondents' Motion to Dismiss and Motion for Summary Judgment thereon. (*See* Pet'r's Br. at 12-16, 18-21). Respondents disagree and instead suggest that, despite two years within which Petitioner could have conducted discovery on the statute of limitations issue, which was unequivocally raised in their Answer and Motion to Dismiss, and because of Petitioner's consistent failure to articulate any questions of fact with regard to **the statute of limitations** as it applies to his negligence claim, Judge Tabit was not only correct in granting Respondents' Motions on that issue but realistically had no choice but to rule in Respondents' favor thereon.

Petitioner's negligence claim is subject to the two-year statute of limitations contained in West Virginia Code Section 55-2-12. *Evans v. United Bank, Inc.*, 235 W. Va. 619, 627 n.8, 775 S.E.2d 500, 508 n.8 (2015). A statute of limitations typically begins to run when the plaintiff knows, or by the exercise of reasonable diligence, should know: "(1) that the plaintiff has been injured, (2) the identity of the entity who owed the plaintiff a duty to act with due care, and who may have engaged in conduct that breached that duty, and (3) that the conduct of that entity has a causal relation to the injury." *Id.* at 507 (quoting Syl. pt. 3, *Dunn v. Rockwell*, 225 W. Va. 43, 689 S.E.2d 255 (2009)). The Supreme Court of Appeals has stated that a five-step analysis should be applied to determine whether a cause of action is time-barred:

First, the court should identify the applicable statute of limitation for each cause of action. Second, the court (or, if questions of material fact exist, the jury) should identify when the requisite elements of

the cause of action occurred. Third, the discovery rule should be applied to determine when the statute of limitation began to run by determining when the plaintiff knew, or by the exercise of reasonable diligence should have known, of the elements of a possible cause of action, as set forth in [Syl. pt. 4, Gaither v. City Hosp., Inc., 487 S.E.2d 901 (W. Va. 1997)]. Fourth, if the plaintiff is not entitled to the benefit of the discovery rule, then determine whether the defendant fraudulently concealed facts that prevented the plaintiff from discovering or pursuing the cause of action. Whenever a plaintiff is able to show that the defendant fraudulently concealed facts which prevented the plaintiff from discovering or pursuing the potential cause of action, the statute of limitation is tolled. And fifth, the court or the jury should determine if the statute of limitation period was arrested by some other tolling doctrine. Only the first step is purely a question of law; the resolution of steps two through five will generally involve questions of material fact that will need to be resolved by the trier of fact.

*Id.* (quoting Syl. pt. 5, *Dunn*, 225 W. Va. 43, 689 S.E.2d 255).

Here, the Circuit Court correctly found that, no later than July 15, 2017, Petitioner knew or should have known that: (1) he had allegedly been injured (by the ALJ's affirmation of the denial of his workers' compensation claim and Respondents' supposed acts or omissions that led to that denial); (2) Respondents owed him a duty to act with due care, and they may have engaged in conduct that breached that duty; and (3) Respondents' alleged negligent conduct may have had a casual relation to his alleged injury (*i.e.* his failure to obtain workers' compensation benefits). (*See* Appx. at 256). The Circuit Court based these findings on these uncontroverted facts: (1) the ALJ affirmed the TPA's denial of Petitioner's claim for occupational disease benefits on June 15, 2017; (2) the ALJ's decision notified Petitioner of his right to file an appeal within thirty days of its receipt (*i.e.* on or before July 15, 2017); and (3) Respondents similarly notified Petitioner by letter dated June 27, 2017 of the need to file an appeal within thirty days of the ALJ's decision, their determination that they would not represent him on appeal because they deemed such an effort to be futile, and his ability to proceed *pro se* or obtain other counsel to prosecute his appeal.

(See Appx. at 255-256). There is no dispute that Petitioner did not appeal the ALJ decision. (See Pet'r's Br. at 6).

In support of his appeal, Petitioner asserts that the Circuit Court failed to properly consider the discovery rule and the doctrine of fraudulent concealment with regard to the statute of limitations. (See Pet'r's Br. at 14). With regard to the discovery rule, Petitioner maintains that it wasn't until Petitioner's former employer, FMC, took the position in Petitioner's deliberate intent civil action against it that his claim is barred by the doctrine of res judicata (because of the adverse ruling against him in his workers' compensation claim) that he "discovered" his potential claim against the Respondents. (See Pet'r's Br. at 14-15, 18-19). Petitioner alleges that FMC first asserted this defense on January 13, 2020, (see Appx. at 6), and that as a result he did not have knowledge of Respondents' alleged negligence until January 30, 2020 (See Pet'r's Br. at 14, 19). Based on this analysis, Petitioner therefore argues that his Complaint in the matter sub judice was timely filed.<sup>2</sup>

Respondent's assertions concerning the mechanics of the discovery rule and its effect on this case are manifestly misguided. As the Circuit Court explained, when Petitioner knew of the potential effect of the adverse workers' compensation decision on his deliberate intent claim is irrelevant to the application of the discovery rule. (*See* Appx. at 257). Simply put, the "discovery" that is relevant here is not the date on which the Respondent, or his current counsel, perceived that the ruling on his workers' compensation claim may have a negative effect on his deliberate intent claim. The intended inquiry with regard to "discovering" his potential claim against the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> In light of the fact that FMC allegedly took this position on January 13, 2020, it is unclear why Petitioner supposedly did not know of Respondents' alleged negligence until January 30, 2020. Regardless, the evidence shows that Petitioner indisputably knew or should have known of his potential cause of action against Respondents at a much earlier date.

Respondents is when Petitioner knew or should have known of the elements of a potential cause of action against Respondents. *Evans*, 235 W. Va. at 627, 775 S.E.2d at 507; (*see* Appx. at 257).

Even accepting Petitioner's factual allegations as true (that he first became aware on January 13, 2020, that FMC would claim that Petitioner's deliberate intent claim is barred by the doctrine of res judicata (*see* Appx. at 6)), it is undeniable that Petitioner knew or should have known of a potential claim against Respondents at a much earlier date. Indeed, Petitioner does not dispute receiving the letter from Respondents notifying him that they were withdrawing as counsel and advising him of his appellate rights in July 2017, nearly three years before this civil action was filed. (*See* Appx. at 285). Respondents never represented Petitioner in his deliberate intent case. There is no event in that case that can link Respondents' representation of Petitioner to a claim arising therefrom. The "discovery" of the potential effect of the denial of his workers' compensation claim is simply irrelevant to when Petitioner knew or should have known that he had been damaged by Petitioners' alleged negligence as a result of their representation of him in the workers' compensation case, which is undoubtedly July 2017 at the latest.

Moreover, Petitioner had at least constructive, if not actual, notice of the potential res judicata defense much earlier than he now claims. FMC initially took that position not on January 13, 2020 as alleged, but instead, on February 3, 2016 when it served its answer to the complaint in that case. Petitioner, therefore, either knew or should have known of FMC's position at the time the ALJ decision was rendered, since his Complaint in the deliberate intent case was filed, and FMC answered and asserted the defense of res judicata prior to, the ALJ's decision. (*See* Appx. at 257). Thus, as the Circuit Court found, Petitioner either knew or should have known that he had allegedly been injured by the ALJ's affirmation of the denial of his workers' compensation claim, the Respondents' supposed acts or omissions that led to that denial (and FMC's position with

respect to the denial of his workers' compensation claim), and the potential adverse effect on his deliberate intent claim before the appeal deadline in his workers' compensation claim expired. (See Appx. at 257).

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